
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC LANDS 
Response to Question regarding RFP20-RED004 

LEASE AND DEVELOPMENT OF PUBLIC LANDS IN MARPI, SAIPAN 
 
 

Question 1:   Would DPL provide the appraisal? Should the tendering party appoint an external 

expert for the appraisal?  

 

DPL Response:  No, DPL will not provide an appraisal report. NMIAC §145-70-110 (d)(6) states “ All 

costs related to the lease including underwriting, appraisals, leasehold fee simples, 

surveys, topographical surveys consolidations, excavation, studies, recordings, etc. shall 

be borne by applicant or lessee. In the event of lessee’s failure to perform any obligation 

under a lease, DPL may (but shall not be obligated to) expend funds held in lessee’s 

account (including security deposits) to satisfy such obligation to the extent feasible (e.g., 

to procure surveys, appraisals, or insurance).” 

  

Yes, tendering party should obtain a US-CNMI certified appraiser as stated in the DPL 

Regulations, NMIAC §145-70-301.  It is not required of tendering party to submit an 

appraisal report with its proposal however, considering that 40% of the evaluation criteria 

is the amount of rent revenues to DPL tendering parties should be cautious with their 

assumptions on fair market value when estimating basic rent payments.  Furthermore, an 

appraisal report will be required prior to lease execution and that report will be used as the 

basis for determining actual rent amounts if the report is acceptable to DPL (i.e. consistent 

with appraisal standards). 

 

Question 2:   If the tendering party should get the appraisal, does DPL have list of the approved 

experts?  

DPL Response:  No DPL does not maintain a list.  You may inquire with the CNMI Board of Professional  

Licensing for a list of US-CNMI certified appraiser that are currently licensed. 

 

Question 3: If tendering party provides the appraisal, it is certain that the valuation would be 

vary, will the tendering parties be making its bid with their own valuation considering 

disadvantages of the low valuation?  

DPL Response: DPL is aware that valuations may vary for the same property.  In the event this occurs the 

RFP package states that “all proposals shall be accorded fair and equal treatment with 

respect to any opportunity for discussion and revisions of proposals and such revisions may 

be permitted after submission and prior to award for the purpose of obtaining the best and 

final offer”.  DPL may consider such discussions if it is determined to be in the best interest 

of DPL and its beneficiaries.  

 

Question 4: Can we consider that the maximum lease fee will still be $4,000,000 even after full  

  development of the property?  

DPL Response: DPL may cap it if certain thresholds in DPL’s regulations are met. 

 

NMIAC §145-70-110(e)(2) states that “DPL may cap the base rent at $4 million for a large 

development project that will require more than two years to complete if DPL determines 

that the capital investment in the project will be no less than $36 million and will benefit 

the economic development of the Commonwealth. 

 



 NMIAC §145-70-110(e)(4) states that “Properties shall be re appraised and basic rent 

adjusted to market every five years based on an updated appraisal. For the purpose of 

determining basic rent, the value in subsequent periods shall include all improvements on 

the property less the value of improvements made by the lessee during the term of the lease. 

 

Question 5: If a foreign company wants to submit a proposal, must they first register with  

  the CNMI or can they do it upon the selection by DPL?  

DPL Response: Yes, all proposals must be submitted by a CNMI licensed business. (NMIAC §145-70-

101(c)(2)) 

 

Question 6: Could you specify the “allowed purpose of the usage” of individual Lots?  

DPL Response: Leasing of Public Lands is for Commercial Use only which is defined in NMIAC § 145-

70-010 (b) “Commercial Use” means used for revenue generating activities. Active use 

means the actual physical operations or facilities generating revenue. Passive use means a 

supplementary use that augments the revenue generating operations or facility (e.g. parking 

lots). For purposes of these regulations, residential dwellings (e.g. condominiums, 

apartments, or houses) are not recognized as Commercial Use, except that all development 

shall have no more than 2% of passive use dedicated for employee housing.   

 

 

Question 7: Would there be any restriction or negative covenants on the individual Lots? 

DPL Response: All properties to be leased will be under a single lease agreement.  The provisions of the 

lease (including restrictions and negative covenants) will apply equally to all properties 

covered by the agreement.  The usage of each individual lot will be restricted based on 

the limitations of the Constitution of the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, 

and Chapter 145-70 of the Northern Marianas Islands Administrative Code, and the 

specific terms of each lease.  DPL is not aware of any other restrictive or negative 

covenants on the individual lots. 

 

Question 8: Do you have any restriction on Timeshare system? 

DPL Response: It depends on the type of timeshare system because there are various forms.  However, 

should the proposed timeshare agreement trigger any of the provisions in the lease 

agreement (refer to template agreement include in the RFP package) on assignments, 

subleases, sales, conveyances, mortgages, encumbrances, transfers, or dispositions of any 

portion of the Lessee’s interest in or to the leased Premises, then the proposed timeshare 

will be treated in accordance with those provisions and the Lessee will be required to 

obtain prior written consent from DPL as required by NMIAC § 145-70-110(i) and 

comply with any specific other terms contained in the lease. 

 

 Additionally, proposers should keep in mind that 40% of the evaluation criteria is the 

amount of rent revenues to DPL and the potential effects a timeshare system may have on 

their proposed rent amounts. 

 

Question 9: Do you have any restriction on sale of Membership? 

DPL Response: Generally no, memberships to golf course or hotel clubs are not prohibited.  However, 

should the membership agreement trigger any of the provisions in the lease agreement on 

assignments, subleases, sales, conveyances, mortgages, encumbrances, transfers, or 

disposition of any portion of the Lessee’s interest in or to the leased Premises, then the 

proposed timeshare will be treated in accordance with those provisions and Lessee would 

be required to obtain prior consent from DPL in writing. (§145-70-110(i)) 

 



Question 10: Do you have any restriction of applying EB5 investment? 

DPL Response: The RFP requires proposers to submit verifiable evidence of availability of funds (funds 

on deposit, letter of credit, loan commitment, or similar concrete evidence of ability to 

proceed) for the construction, development, and start of operations.  Merely submitting a 

copy of your EB5 application as part of your proposal will not satisfy this criteria.  

However, should you pursue EB5 as a source of funding it might trigger provisions in the 

lease agreement on assignments, subleases, sales, conveyances, mortgages, encumbrances, 

transfers, or disposition of any portion of the Lessee’s interest in or to the leased Premises, 

and the proposed EB5 structure will be evaluated in accordance with those provisions. 

 

Furthermore, the EB-5 program, by which a non-resident of the United States can acquire 

permanent residence through certain commercial and investment activities in the United 

States, is administered by the United States Citizenship and Immigration Service (USCIS).  

DPL has no control of or influence over the EB-5 determination.  Any questions regarding 

the EB-5 program should therefore be directed to the USCIS.  

 

Question 11: When do we have to pay the Security Deposit?  

DPL Response: Upon execution of the lease agreement, the lessee shall deposit $250,000 as security. 

(NMIAC § 145-70-110). 

 

Question 12: Do we make the payments by Phase?  

DPL Response: For large projects that certified engineers estimate will require more than two years to 

construct and will be constructed in phases, lessee shall make a 5% security deposit of 

each phase, or an amount mutually agreeable to both parties prior to construction 

commencement (NMIAC § 145-70-110(d)(2)). Funds will be required to be in escrow, 

absent a construction bond, performance bond, etc.   

 

Question 13: Can the facilities currently existing be modified, demolished or rebuilt?  

DPL Response: All three may be are allowed, however, prior to any improvement, modification, demolition 

or rebuild, a construction plan must be submitted and may be approved by DPL with 

conditions. (NMIAC § 145-70-110(d)(2)).  

 

Question 14: Is it mandatory duty to maintain the use and maintenance of the baseball field? 

DPL Response:  Yes, as the property would be a part of the lease agreement. The baseball 

field can be relocated to another area within the leased property. DPL is willing to review 

proposals for building and maintenance of a baseball field in a different property, as paid 

for by the investor. 

 

Question 15: Is it mandatory duty to maintain the use and maintenance of the swimming pool?  

DPL Response: Yes, as the property would be a part of the lease agreement. The swimming pool can be 

relocated to another area within the property. DPL is willing review proposals for building 

and maintenance of a swimming pool in a different property, as paid for by the investor. 

 

Question 16: Can we provide other public benefit instead of the baseball field and/or swimming  

  pool?  

DPL Response: Part of the condition of the lease is to renovate, improve, repair, construct, develop, 

transform, and maintain the exiting baseball field and swimming pool and to meet certain 

requirements indicated in the obligation. DPL may consider alternative offers equivalent 

or better.   

 

Question 17: Can we change the location of the baseball field and the swimming pool?  



DPL Response: DPL may consider alternative proposals such as relocation of the baseball field and 

swimming pool as long as you fulfill what is included on Exhibit 2- Article 13.  

 

Question 18: What is the estimated appraisal value for the proposed land? (for East side of the 

main road to the West side)  

DPL Response: DPL cannot estimate a value for the property due to land value fluctuating over time. It is 

up to the interested party to have the property appraised to get the estimated value of the 

land. 

 

Question 19: How much did Kan Pacific pay annually for rent payments? 

DPL Response: DPL cannot disclose such information unless an Open Government Act is filed to get 

access to such information. Also, all leases including Kan Pacific’s lease is recorded at the 

CNMI Recorders Office and are available for review by the public. Further, Kan Pacific’s 

lease began in 1977. Various statutes and regulations have been in place since then.  

 

Question 20: We are aware of the fact that Lao Lao Bay only pays 0.6% of the appraised value for 

their basic rent payments, why is it for this property (Marianas Resort) we have to 

pay 5% minimum? If we were to offer less than 5% would we disqualify or is this rent 

payment flexible.   

DPL Response: NMIAC §145-70-110(e)(2) states “Basic rent shall be based on the value of the fee simple 

title to the property.  It is the policy of DPL to collect at least 5% of a property’s value each 

year for the term of the lease as base rent.” 

 

 No, you will not be disqualified for offering less than 5%, however, DPL will select the 

most desirable, beneficial and in the best interest of the Commonwealth and public land 

beneficiaries. 

 

Question 21: If we were to invest in Marianas Resort for more than 40 million dollars, what are 

some benefits that CNMI government can offer?  

DPL Response: Any benefits for lease will only be determined during negotiations with the granted lessee. 

DPL cannot speak for other government agencies, however, the CNMI government 

generally offers a Qualifying Certificate administered by the Commonwealth Development 

Authority  

 

Question 22: If we were to lease the land, would it be possible for us to build more rooms on top of 

the vacant land?  

DPL Response: Yes, the Lessee is able to build additional structures on the leased property. 

 

Question 23: For the security deposit mentioned in the RFP section 6. a/ page 5, can we use this 

amount as lease payments when the project we proposed is completed? How does it 

work? 

DPL Response: All amounts above $250,000 may be applied towards rent after construction is completed.  

$250,000 will be retained as security deposit for the full term of the lease, and lessee shall 

be obligated to maintain a constant balance for the term of the lease. 

 



Question 24: If we make improvements to, changes, etc. to the land, I assume that our appraisal 

value for the land would rise which means that our basic rent payment would 

naturally rise as well. Is this correct? 

DPL Response: No.  Basic rent is 5% of the current appraised value. Properties shall be reappraised and 

basic rent adjusted upward to market every five years based on an updated appraisal. For 

the purpose of determining basic rent, the value in subsequent periods shall include all 

improvements on the property less the value of improvements made by the lessee during 

term of lease. 

 

Question 25: Due to corona virus throughout the world, it seems very difficult for investors to visit 

CNMI and do their due diligence regarding the land/property etc. Is the DPL 

planning on extending the RFP offer? 

DPL Response: The deadline for submission of proposals has been extended to July 6, 2020. 

 

Question 26: Will there be height limits to the constructions of new buildings, and if so, what 

permits are needed?  

DPL Response: Building height limits are determined by CNMI regulatory agencies such as Department of 

Public Works, Department of Lands and Natural Resources, Bureau of Environmental 

Quality (http://www.deq.gov.mp/), Coastal Resource Management Office 

(https://dcrm.gov.mp/) and Saipan Zoning Office (http://www.zoning.gov.mp/) for 

information on this.  CNMI land use regulations are equally applicable to public lands as 

they are to private lands. 

 

Question 27: In article on Saipan Tribune DPL has proposed a reduction of percentage of FMV 

from 5% to 3% to account for the necessity of capital improvements needed for 

structures 40 structures 40 years or older, and I was wondering if you could elaborate 

on as to how you got the 3% using the formula below: 

DPL Response: The reduction of FMV percentage from 5% to 3% only applies to matured leases as defined 

in DPL regulations that have completed its 40 year term. The properties for RFP20-

RED004 (former Marianas Resort), is considered “NEW” and base rent will be charged at 

5% fair market value. 

 

Question 28: What is the “Cost proposed for capital improvements”? Is it the total investment for 

improvements on the hotel that the Investors have proposed to DPL? 

DPL Response: Yes, it is the company’s proposed investment for capital improvements of the property. 

 

Question 29: What is the “Replacement cost for existing improvements”? Is it the appraised land 

value? 

DPL Response: Replacement cost is the estimated cost to construct, at current prices, a building with equal 

utility to the building being appraised. 

 

Questions 30: Could we use the formula above to calculate our basic rent when we submit our offer 

regarding the RFP20-RED004? Or would we need to propose a minimum of 5% of 

FMV like stated in RFP. 



DPL Response: Refer to the RFP requirements. 

 

Question 31: Please advise if there has been any appraisal completed on the property in the last 

several years.   If so, may we have a copy of it or the most recent one completed?  Will 

an appraisal be done before the RFP date to indicate the current Appraised Fair 

Market value? 

DPL Response: No, DPL does not have an updated appraisal report for the properties. Appraisals must be 

paid for and provided by the applicant or Lessee. 

 

Question 32: Please provide or make available any as-built drawings of the improvements on the 

property.   

DPL Response: DPL has included several photos and maps in reference to the RFP, which you can use as 

resources.  

 

Question 33: Please confirm what OS&E and FF&E is available and will this be transferred to the 

new leaseholder?  Is there a list of these items with an indication of their condition? 

DPL Response: The lease for RFP20-RED004 does not include OS&E and FF&E. However, depending on 

the outcome of the bid, the FF&E may be auctioned by DPL. 

 

Question 34: Please confirm the unit mix and sizes of the guest rooms. 

DPL Response: There are 50 cottages (different layouts) and 74 rooms at the Reef Hotel (different layouts). 

To get a more detailed description, we encourage to schedule a site visit. 

 

Question 35: Please provide a program of rooms in each building with sizes if possible. 

DPL Response: DPL does not have the exact measurements of cottages and rooms. We encourage to 

schedule a site visit to get a more detailed view of the rooms. 

 

Question 36: Please confirm if a Phase 1 environmental report has been completed on the property 

and if there are any environmental issues.  If one has not been completed, will one 

occur prior to the RFP due date?   Please confirm if DPL will be responsible for any 

cleanup costs associated with any environmental issues. 

DPL Response: No environmental report has been commissioned by DPL on the property, as most of the 

property with preexisting structures are considered “disturbed areas”. Generally, 

Environmental Impact Assessment reports are generally done to undisturbed raw land.  

 

Question 37: Please confirm if any typhoon assessments / estimates were completed on the facility 

after Typhoon Yutu.  If so, please provide a copy. 

DPL Response: An internal assessment was made by DPL after Typhoon Yutu for the purpose of cleanup 

and maintenance only. DPL has continued upkeep and maintenance  

 

Question 38: Please confirm if there are any use restrictions on the property being leased, other 

than what is provided in the RFP.   

DPL Response: The Lessee will conform to what is indicated as the “purpose” of the lease. Any amendment 

to the agreement must go through an approval process.  The property is free and clear and 

available for lease.  

 

Question 39: Please provide a copy of the lease, drawings and other information that pertain to the 

Saipan Adventure Tours lease. 

DPL Response: DPL cannot provide such information; however, a copy of the lease agreement can be 

obtained at the CNMI Recorder’s office and/or submit an Open Government Act to DPL. 



 

Question 40: Please confirm if the fire life safety systems are functional in the building. 

DPL Response: DPL does not have that information.  

 

Question 41: Please confirm if there are any known deficiencies in the facility, other than those 

indicated in the RFP and Photos. 

DPL Response: DPL does not have that information but encourages investors to conduct their own 

assessments. 

 

Question 42: Please confirm if the site visit on 3/17 is mandatory.  Considering the complexity of 

this leasehold and the number of items that will likely be discussed, this would be our 

recommendation. 

DPL Response: The site visit scheduled for March 17 is not mandatory; however, we encourage all 

interested parties to attend to get full access to the property and get direct information from 

our staff regarding the RFP. 

 

Question 42: Please provide any past financials for how the property performed prior to the exit 

of the prior lease holder.  This will help us understand the costs to maintain the 

property and the revenues the property was generating. 

DPL Response: Financial Information of a company could be restricted to proprietary information, 

however, previous lease agreements which includes term and payment can be viewed by 

submitting an OGA or visiting the Commonwealth recorder.  

 

Question 43: The minimum annual rent amount due as indicated in RFP Instruction Package: 

Extension market research and detailed financial analysis has led us to offer our 

determination that the minimum annual rent amount due as indicated in the RFP 

Instruction Package is not commercially viable and workable. Will DPL be 

amendable to substantially reducing the minimum annual rent amount? 

DPL Response: NMIAC §145-70-110(e)(2) states “Basic rent shall be based on the value of the fee simple 

title to the property.  It is the policy of DPL to collect at least 5% of a property’s value each 

year for the term of the lease as base rent.” 

 

 Interested parties may offer less than 5%, however, DPL will select the most desirable, 

beneficial and in the best interest of the Commonwealth and public land beneficiaries. 

 

Question 44: The Draft Lease Agreement, Article 13, Public Benefit Obligation: 

 

 In due consideration of the demographics of CNMI and regional market conditions, 

and the exhaustive attention to detail has resulted in the findings that providing the 

public benefit as set out in Section 1 and Section 2 is rather excessive, especially in the 

lines that: 

 “a modern major league baseball field stadium with lighting for night games, training 

facilities, 2,000-seat spectator seating capacity”. 

 “a modern aquatics facility 50 meter Olympic standard long-course swimming pool 

including an additional 25 meter short-course swimming pool, complete with 

equipment and modern timing system: 

 



 Can DPL consider reducing the number of spectator seating capacity of 2,000-seat 

and may parts of the requirement be changed or amended? 

 

DPL Response: DPL does require such specifications for the baseball field and the swimming pool as 

indicated in the Draft Agreement. Should your proposal offer less than the required specs, 

DPL will require a justification/certification from a certified contractor 

(Engineer/Architect) to support the proposal.  

 


